**FILED** 10-10-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

### STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP715-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

J. D. B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) jansonkl@doj.state.wi.us

###

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Sell sets forth the standard for the government to obtain an involuntary medication order to restore trial competency. To comport with due process, a court must find that (1) an important governmental interest is at stake, (2) involuntary medication will significantly further that interest, (3) involuntary medication is necessary, and (4) involuntary medication is medically appropriate. On top of the Sell factors, to obtain a medication order, the State must establish that the defendant is incompetent to refuse medication.

- 1. Did the State prove the *Sell* factors by clear and convincing evidence?
- 2. Did the State prove the defendant incompetent to refuse treatment?

### STATEMENT OF CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW

This case involves an expired involuntary medication order. But the court of appeals declined to dismiss Jared's<sup>2</sup> appeal as moot because it "raises significant constitutional issues" and "there are few binding cases in Wisconsin

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sell v. United States, 539 U.S. 166 (2003).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Pseudonym.

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 8 of 32

interpreting and applying the *Sell* factors." (Pet-App. 4, 13.) Jared had asked the court of appeals to overlook any mootness concerns for these reasons. (Pet-App. 13–14; Jared's Reply Br. 7–9.) Thus, in the court of appeals' and Jared's own words, review is warranted because (1) this case presents "[a] real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law," and (2) this Court's decision "will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and" resolution of the novel issues presented will have statewide impact. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a), (c)2.

It's time for this Court to weigh in on the Sell factors. Outside of declaring that circuit courts must consider the Sell factors before ordering involuntary medication to restore trial competency, see State v. Fitzgerald, 2019 WI 69,  $\P$  2, 387 Wis. 2d 384, 929 N.W.2d 165, this Court hasn't addressed Sell. While "the Sell decision is over two decades old," Wisconsin has just one published decision from the court of appeals addressing three of the four Sell factors. (Pet-App. 13.) As for the remaining factor (whether the government has an important interest in seeking an involuntary medication order), this case marks the first time that a court has endeavored to provide guidance to the bench and bar. (Pet-App. 13, 16–24.)

Given that the U.S. Supreme Court has offered little guidance on what exactly a government must do to meet its burden under *Sell*, and because litigants frequently debate the import of Wisconsin's only published case on the matter, this Court should step in to interpret and apply the *Sell* factors. Not to mention, the decision recommended for publication in this case—which reaches well beyond the issues raised by the parties—is flawed and raises more questions than it answers.

Briefly, the decision below narrows the cases for which the State may obtain an involuntary medication order without regard for victims' constitutional rights, relevant Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 9 of 32

authorities, and at times, logic. It offers an unclear method for deciding whether the State is prosecuting a serious crime, one that would seemingly exclude crimes not listed in Wisconsin's bail statute (of which there are many). It invites courts to undermine the State's interest in prosecuting a serious crime through speculation about a civil commitment. It directs circuit courts to second-guess the conclusions and unrefuted testimony of medical experts. And it imposes a more onerous standard than *Sell* reasonably suggests, requiring medical professionals to provide exhaustive details about their treatment plans.

That's just regarding the issues that were presented to the court of appeals for review. The decision also unnecessarily and incorrectly holds that courts have the authority to order conditional pretrial release after a defendant's competency is questioned. Further, the decision gratuitously and wrongly declares a due process violation whenever a Chapter 971.14 committee isn't transported from a jail to an inpatient treatment facility "within a reasonable amount of time." (Pet-App. 24.) Under the court of appeals' reasoning, and contrary to the authority it cites, the reasons for the delay are irrelevant, as are the circumstances of confinement at the jail.

Review is warranted.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. The State charged Jared with battery to a law enforcement officer.

In August 2022, the State charged Jared with battery to a law enforcement officer, a Class H felony. (R. 2.) According to the complaint, Milwaukee police were dispatched to a residence in response to a reported threat. (R. 2:1.) Officers spoke with a woman who stated that her son, Jared, was threatening to get a gun and kill everyone inside

the home. (R. 2:1.) The officers spoke with Jared, and he made statements about fighting the officers. (R. 2:1.) When the officers tried to arrest him, Jared threw two punches at one officer, striking the officer in the left side of his face, which caused pain and a laceration. (R. 2:1.) As officers handcuffed Jared, Jared threatened to kill the officer he struck. (R. 2:1.)

# B. The circuit court found Jared incompetent to proceed and committed him for treatment.

When Jared appeared in court for the first time, defense counsel questioned Jared's competency to proceed. (Pet-App. 6.) Following Wisconsin's trial competency statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.14, the circuit court found probable cause and ordered a competency evaluation.<sup>3</sup>

Dr. Collins, a board-certified psychologist and Director of the Wisconsin Forensic Unit, performed a competency assessment and authored a report. (R. 5.) Dr. Collins diagnosed Jared with Schizophrenia and Major neurocognitive disorder, due to a self-inflicted gunshot wound to the head. (R. 5:5–6.) She opined that Jared lacked "substantial mental capacity to understand the proceedings or assist in his defense." (R. 5:6.)

In an order signed October 11, 2022, the court ordered Jared committed to DHS's custody. (R. 8.) The court did not order involuntary medication at that time. Jared did not appeal his commitment order.

Jared started his commitment at the jail, where he participated in four clinical coordination sessions with a Jail Specialist at the Outpatient Competency Restoration Program (OCRP). (R. 12:3.) He was "minimally productive"

10

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Unless otherwise noted, citations are to CCAP records for Milwaukee County case number 2022CF3407.

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 11 of 32

during those sessions given his non-compliance with medication. (R. 12:2-3; 15:4.)

Jared arrived at Mendota Mental Health Institute (Mendota) on January 25, 2023. (R. 15:1.) His six-month competency reexamination concluded that he remained incompetent but was likely to be restored to competency within the time remaining. (R. 15:7.)

# C. Roughly six months into the commitment, the circuit court ordered involuntary medication.

On April 11, 2023, DHS moved for an involuntary medication order. (R. 18; 19.) The motion included a report and individual treatment plan from clinical psychiatrist Dr. Mitchell Illichmann. (R. 19:2–3.) The circuit court held a hearing on the matter, where Dr. Illichmann provided lengthy testimony as to Jared's condition and his proposed treatment plan. (R. 37:14–68.)

Dr. Illichmann personally examined Jared five times before DHS filed the request for the involuntary medication order. (R. 37:20, 38.) During each of these meetings, Dr. Illichmann personally reviewed Jared's medications. (R. 37:40.) Based on these examinations and a review of Jared's records, Dr. Illichmann determined that Jared had schizophrenia spectrum illness, which is treatable, but not curable. (R. 37:23.) Dr. Illichmann noted that Jared had been provided antipsychotic medications in the past that seemed to have helped. (R. 37:23.)

The doctor noted that when Jared arrived at Mendota in January 2023, he was initially taking his medications, particularly paliperidone, voluntarily. (R. 37:24–25, 45.) Jared began refusing his medications on April 3, stating that he felt he didn't need them. (R. 37:25.)

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 12 of 32

In Dr. Illichmann's opinion, to a reasonable degree of professional certainty, involuntary medication was substantially likely to render Jared competent to stand trial. (R. 37:27, 36.) There were no alternative less intrusive treatments that would restore Jared to competency. (R. 37:29.) Side effects of the proposed medications would not impair Jared's ability to competently assist in his case or undermine his trial's fairness. (R. 37:27, 28–29.) Dr. Illichmann testified that all the medicines he proposed were medically appropriate for Jared, taking into account his specific medical conditions. (R. 37:29.)

Dr. Illichmann's specific plan was to have Jared resume taking paliperidone, a medication that hadn't caused him side effects in the past. (R. 37:41–42, 53–54, 62.) But the doctor proposed and discussed six other antipsychotic medications as well. (R. 19:3; Pet-App. 9.) He explained why and made clear that the seven medications would not be taken together; rather, they would be administered in "sequential trials." (R. 37:30, 62.) Dr. Illichmann stated what specific dose he would start Jared on for nearly every medication listed on the treatment plan. (R. 37:52–55.) The proposed doses were at the low end of the range so that medical staff could monitor for side effects. (R. 37:34–35, 52–55.)

Prior to filing the request for an order of involuntary medication and treatment plan, Dr. Illichmann sat down with Jared and went through every medication listed on the treatment plan to discuss the side effects and advantages and disadvantages of each. (R. 37:50–52.) After explaining each medication's risks and benefits, Jared told Dr. Illichmann that he did not need medication. (R. 37:51–55.) Based on Jared's responses, Dr. Illichmann concluded that Jared was incompetent to refuse medication because he couldn't apply an understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of medication to his mental illness. (R. 19:2; 37:61–62.)

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 13 of 32

At the conclusion of that hearing, the circuit court found that the State satisfied all four *Sell* factors. (R. 37:79.) The court approved the treatment plan and granted the request for involuntary medication. (R. 37:79.)

## D. The court of appeals reversed Jared's expired involuntary medication order.

Jared appealed the (stayed) involuntary medication order, arguing that the State failed to prove both the *Sell* factors and that he was incompetent to refuse medication. (Pet-App. 4.) The State argued that this case was moot. (Pet-App. 4.) Alternatively, the State argued that it proved the *Sell* factors, and that Jared was incompetent to refuse medication. (Pet-App. 4.)

The court of appeals held oral argument in this matter. It then sua sponte raised additional issues for review, ordering the parties to file simultaneous briefs limited to ten pages.

In a decision recommended for publication, the court of appeals reversed and vacated the expired involuntary medication order. (Pet-App. 34.) As noted, it overlooked the mootness doctrine to provide guidance on *Sell*. (Pet-App. 4, 13–14.) The court of appeals concluded that the State failed to prove all four *Sell* factors, and that Jared was incompetent to refuse medication. (Pet-App. 4–5.)

The State petitions this Court for review.

### **ARGUMENT**

## This Court should grant review to interpret and apply the *Sell* factors.

No published decision in Wisconsin addresses the first *Sell* factor, asking whether the government has an important interest in seeking an involuntary medication order. Courts are split on how to define "serious crime" for purposes of this

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 14 of 32

factor, and this case presents this Court with an opportunity to provide a workable standard. There's also been little instruction on what "special circumstances" may lessen the State's interest in prosecution, and the decision below tacks on to the circumstances identified in *Sell* in a way that has significant and far-reaching implications. Finally, the required specificity of treatment plans has been the subject of much litigation in recent years, and the court of appeals has taken different stances on the issue. This Court should grant review to provide guidance on the proper interpretation and application of the *Sell* factors.

# A. How do courts decide if the State has an important interest in seeking an involuntary medication order?

### 1. Defining "serious crime"

The first *Sell* factor asks whether the government has an important interest at stake in seeking an involuntary medication order. *Sell v. United States*, 539 U.S. 166, 180 (2003). *Sell* instructs that the "Government's interest in bringing to trial an individual accused of a serious crime is important. That is so whether the offense is a serious crime against the person or a serious crime against property." *Id.* However, "*Sell* offered no guidance on how to determine the seriousness of an offense." *United States v. Evans*, 404 F.3d 227, 237 (4th Cir. 2005). Therefore, "courts are left to fashion appropriate, and presumably objective parameters by which to assess seriousness." *United States v. Green*, 532 F.3d 538, 547 (6th Cir. 2008).

There hasn't been a consensus on how to define "serious crime." Some courts applying *Sell* have considered the U.S. Supreme Court's definition of "serious crime" for Sixth Amendment purposes. *See, e.g., Evans,* 404 F.3d at 237; *United States v. Palmer,* 507 F.3d 300, 304 (5th Cir. 2007); *State ex rel. D.B.,* 214 S.W.3d 209, 212–13 (Tex. Ct. App.

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 15 of 32

2007); United States v. Algere, 396 F. Supp. 2d 734, 739 (E.D. La. 2005); United States v. Leveck-Amirmokri, No. EP-04-CR-0961, 2005 WL 1009791, at \*4 (W.D. Tex. Mar. 10, 2005). In that context, "offenses for which a defendant may be sentenced to more than six months imprisonment are considered serious enough to invoke the right to a jury trial." Algere, 396 F. Supp. 2d at 739 (citing Baldwin v. New York, 399 U.S. 66, 71 (1970)).

Other courts have declined to utilize the jury trial standard to define "serious crime" for *Sell* purposes. *See, e.g., United States v. Jaramillo-Ayala*, 526 F. Supp. 2d 1094, 1101–02 (S.D. Cal. 2007). Without a six-month benchmark for sorting serious crimes from minor ones, some courts focus on "the maximum statutory penalty" that the defendant faces, *Green*, 532 F.3d at 549, while others consider federal sentencing guidelines, *United States v. Hernandez-Vasquez*, 513 F.3d 908, 918 (9th Cir. 2008) (collecting cases).

While there may be no clear consensus for defining "serious crime" under *Sell*, courts agree that crimes don't have to be against person or property to be serious. *See Hernandez-Vasquez*, 513 F.3d at 917–18; *Green*, 532 F.3d at 550. And seriousness doesn't turn on violence. *See Hernandez-Vasquez*, 513 F.3d at 918; *Green*, 532 F.3d at 548–49.

Here, the court of appeals recognized that "Sell did not define 'serious crime' and the federal circuit courts do not agree on a method for determining whether a crime is 'serious' for purposes of Sell." (Pet-App. 16–17.) Without further discussion, it suggested a model for defining "serious crime" that would ask (1) whether the crime is listed in Wisconsin's bail statute, (2) if it involves violence, and (3) what the maximum penalty is. (Pet-App. 17.) Because Jared's crime is listed in Wisconsin's bail statute, involves violence, and carries a maximum punishment of six years' imprisonment, the court deemed it serious. (Pet-App. 17.)

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 16 of 32

There are a number of problems with this proposed model for defining "serious crime." For starters, it's unclear whether the decision sets forth any conditions precedent to seriousness for *Sell* purposes. Does a crime need to be listed in Wisconsin's bail statute *and* involve violence? Does one out of the two suffice? What if the crime is neither listed in the bail statute nor violent in nature but carries a maximum punishment of at least six years' imprisonment? How about if the crime isn't listed in the bail statute but involves violence and has a maximum penalty of three-and-one-half years' imprisonment? The decision below gives no guidance on how to answer these questions, leaving circuit courts guessing on what to do with circumstances different from the case at bar.

Further, to the extent that lower courts will read the decision below as imposing conditions precedent to seriousness for *Sell* purposes, it will lead to arbitrary and unjust results. Limiting "serious crimes" to those listed in the bail statute would exclude many crimes that should be considered serious by other metrics. To take just a few examples, the following crimes aren't listed as serious in Wis. Stat. § 969.08:

- Use of a computer to facilitate a child sex crime, Wis. Stat. § 948.075 (Class C felony);
- Soliciting a child for prostitution, Wis. Stat. § 948.08 (Class D felony);
- Sexual assault of a child Failure to act, Wis. Stat. § 948.02(3) (Class F felony);
- Aggravated battery with intent to cause bodily harm, Wis. Stat. § 940.19(4) (Class H felony); and
- Stalking, Wis. Stat. § 940.32 (Class H or I felony).

Whether measured by the statutory maximum penalty or public opinion, the above crimes are serious. Yet, depending on how a lower court reads the decision below, the Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 17 of 32

State might not be able to obtain a medication order to prosecute such crimes because they aren't listed in the bail statute. And even if their absence from the bail statute isn't considered dispositive of seriousness, some of the above crimes might be deemed minor under the court of appeals' methodology for want of violence. Relevant authorities do not support these potential outcomes. See Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 159 (1968) ("[T]he penalty authorized for a particular crime is of major relevance in determining whether it is serious or not . . . ."); Hernandez-Vasquez, 513 F.3d at 918 (seriousness doesn't turn on violence); Green, 532 F.3d at 548–49 (same).

No doubt that defining "serious crime" for *Sell* purposes is difficult. But it is important to find an objective standard that prevents arbitrary determinations of seriousness. *See Green*, 532 F.3d at 548. After all, the U.S. Supreme Court has "caution[ed] the judiciary against" intruding "into the legislative process" when defining "serious crime." *Id.* Heeding that instruction, courts have concluded that "the maximum statutory penalty is the most objective means of determining the seriousness of a crime." *Id.* at 549. And U.S. Supreme Court decisions in other contexts can help specify a length of sentence that makes a crime serious. *See Algere*, 396 F. Supp. 2d at 739.

In short, the court of appeals' proposed methodology for defining "serious crime" is unclear and may lead to arbitrary and unjust results. A more workable standard that respects the Legislature's judgment about a crime's severity and considers U.S. Supreme Court precedent defining "serious crime" is possible. This Court should explore it.

## 2. Special circumstances lessening the governmental interest.

Sell instructs courts to "consider the facts of the individual case in evaluating the Government's interest in

Case 2023AP000715 Petition for Review Filed 10-10-2024 Page 18 of 32

prosecution." Sell, 539 U.S. at 180. "Special circumstances may lessen the importance of that interest." Id. Sell identifies two: (1) the possibility that the defendant's "failure to take drugs voluntarily . . . may mean lengthy confinement in an institution for the mentally ill," and (2) the "possibility that the defendant has already been confined for a significant amount of time." Id. (emphasis added). Here, the court of appeals considered these two special circumstances and created two of its own.<sup>4</sup>

### a. Potential for civil commitment

Should the defendant be civilly confined if he isn't restored to competency, that may lessen the government's interest in prosecution because the confinement "would diminish the risks that ordinarily attach to freeing without punishment one who has committed a serious crime." *Sell*, 539 U.S. at 180. However, *Sell* was quick to clarify, "We do not mean to suggest that civil commitment is a substitute for a criminal trial. The Government has a substantial interest in timely prosecution." *Id*. "The potential for future confinement affects, but does not totally undermine, the strength of the need for prosecution." *Id*.

The court of appeals acknowledged that federal courts "analyzing this issue have largely focused on the likelihood of civil commitment, often finding that when the possibility of future civil commitment is uncertain and speculative, the State's interest in prosecution is not lessened." (Pet-App. 18.) It went on to hold that in "this case, there are distinct, non-speculative possibilities for Jared's future commitment through the ongoing Chapter 51 proceedings or following a

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