FILED 11-25-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP000715-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

Filed 11-25-2024

v.

J.D.B.,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATIE R. YORK Deputy State Public Defender State Bar No. 1066231 yorkk@opd.wi.gov

LUCAS SWANK Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010 swankl@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 73707-7862 (608) 266-3440

Attorneys for J.D.B.

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

Finally, Jared can safely say that the State will always argue that victim considerations should trump a defendant's right against forced medication. This is not supported by the language in Sell, and the Court should not legitimize an argument that would

¹⁰ The State also notes an interest in deterring others from engaging in the conduct," Pet. for Review at 22, presumably through punishment, which is also not accomplished with an NGI finding.

¹¹ Moreover, the State incorrectly assumes all victims would have a position that aligns with theirs. The State fails to acknowledge that victims may not want to see someoneespecially a friend or family member—forcibly medicated. Additionally, there is no information in the record regarding how this specific victim feels.

Filed 11-25-2024

effectively dispose of the factor in the State's favor in every case. 12

The court of appeals' analysis of the first factor was based on an application of the plain language of Sell and a fair consideration of the State's interest in prosecution; there is no reason for this Court to grant review.

III. The argument regarding pre-trial credit is plainly seeking error-correction.

The State does not try to argue any reason this Court should accept the case related to the pre-trial credit issue, other than for error-correction. The court of appeals noted that the time Jared spent in-custody as a "first-time, then-nineteen-year-old offender" was significant and undermined the State's interest in prosecution.

The State correctly notes that the court of appeals erred in calculating the credit to include the period after the circuit court ordered involuntary medication. 13 Pet. for Review at 22. What the State

 $^{^{12}}$ It is also worth reminding the State and the Court that Marsy's Law "is not intended and may not be interpreted to supersede a defendant's federal constitutional rights." Wis. Const. art. I § 9m(6). Arguably, the consideration is not relevant at all when it comes to whether a criminal defendant is to be forcibly medicated.

¹³ This error is partially attributable to undersigned counsel as the opening brief cited the 318 days calculation, rather than the 245 days from August 22, 2022 to April 24, 2023. App. Br. at 20. Notably, the State did not correct this—or

Filed 11-25-2024

fails to address is why the difference between 318 days and 245 days is so significant as to undermine the court of appeals' rationale.

The State also asserts that the court of appeals did not address its other purported interests in analyzing the first factor—asking this Court to weigh it differently. ¹⁴ This is error-correction.

Illegal pre-trial detention is a proper IV. consideration under Sell.

The court of appeals correctly held that illegal pre-trial detention further lessens the State's interest in prosecution and that individuals are entitled to bond, regardless of competency being raised.

> Α. The illegality of pre-trial detention undermines the State's interest prosecution.

The State acknowledges that the denial of pretrial release is a proper consideration under Sell. Pet. for Review at 23. The fact that the detention was illegal is relevant to the State's "concomitant,

25

respond to Jared's arguments regarding mitigating circumstances at all—simply relying on the allegations in the complaint to support its interest. Resp. Br. at 26. This Court should not grant review related to arguments the State forfeited by not arguing in the court of appeals.

¹⁴ And again, this was not argued below and is forfeited.

Filed 11-25-2024

constitutionally essential interest in assuring that the defendant's trial is a fair one." Sell, 539 U.S. at 180.15

> First. From the passage of the Judiciary Act of 1789, 1 Stat. 73, 91, to the present Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 46(a)(1), 18 U.S.C.A., federal law has unequivocally provided that a person arrested for a non-capital offense shall be admitted to bail. This traditional right to freedom before conviction permits the unhampered preparation of a defense, and serves to prevent the infliction of punishment prior to conviction.

Stack 342 U.S. 1, 3 (1951). The U. Boyle,Eighth Amendment and Article I, § 6 of the Wisconsin Constitution both prohibit excessive bail.

Inherent in the protections against excessive bail is the constitutional right to bail. See Carlson v. Landon, 342 U.S. 524, 556 (1952) (Black, J. dissenting) ("Under this contention, the Eighth Amendment is a limitation upon judges only, for while a judge cannot constitutionally fix excessive bail, Congress can direct that people be held in jail without any right to bail at all. Stated still another way, the Amendment does no more than protect a right to bail which Congress can grant and which Congress can take away.").

The State's interest in prosecution is lessened in situations where denial of the right to bail hampers

¹⁵ Due to the adversarial nature of the criminal legal system, it is often overlooked that the State has an interest in ensuring a fair trial to the defendant. It is not only defense counsel's responsibility or interest to advocate for those rights.

of the defense and violates preparation presumption of innocence by inflicting punishment before trial.

> В. Individuals are entitled to bond when competency is raised.

The court of appeals correctly interpreted the plain language of Wis. Stats. §§ 969.01 and 971.14 in determining that defendants are entitled to bail, even if competency is raised prior to bond being set. This Court does not need to confirm the plain meaning of the statutes.

Under the bail statute, all defendants are eligible for bail "except as provided in ss. 969.03516 and 971.14 (1r)." Wis. Stat. § 969.01(1)(a). The State correctly notes that Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r) has three components. Subsections (b) and (c) set forth the circumstances where courts are and are not required to make a probable cause finding before an individual evaluated for competency. Wis. §§ 971.14(1r)(b)&(c).

Subsection (a) states: "The court shall proceed under this section whenever there is reason to doubt a defendant's competency to proceed." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(1r)(a). Thus, the statutory scheme is crystal clear: individuals are entitled to bond unless a provision in Wis. Stat. § 971.14 dictates otherwise.

Establishing the circumstances where bail can be denied entirely.

There are two provisions that would work to prevent a person from remaining out-of-custody on bond. First, when the court or DHS determine that an inpatient examination is needed. Wis. §§ 971.14(2)(a), (c), (d). Second, once a defendant is found not competent and proceedings are suspended. Wis. Stats. §§ 971.14(4)(d); (5)(a)1. Of course the bail statute would cease to be in effect during the timeframe necessary to conduct an inpatient exam. Similarly, once someone is found incompetent, they are committed to the custody of DHS, which would again necessarily trump the bail statute. 17 The Legislature making this clear by referencing the general provision requiring the courts to follow section 971.14 when competency is an issue does not create the confusion the State claims.

The State's reading of the statute also leads to an unreasonable result—individuals who are released on bail before competency is raised get to remain on bail, Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(b), but if competency is raised at the first hearing before bail is set, the individual cannot be released. Pet. for Review at 23-25. The State offers no explanation why the Legislature would desire such an outcome. 18 In fact, Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(b)'s existence suggests the

¹⁷ It would also be problematic to expect an incompetent defendant to comply with the conditions of bond.

¹⁸ There is also likely an equal protection issue, as there's no explanation why defendants who begin the case with their competency questioned are any less entitled to release on bail than defendants whose competency is questioned after bail has been set.

Filed 11-25-2024

Legislature's preference that individuals who can be safely released into the community on bail should be.

Finally, the State claims it would be "absurd" to grant bail to individuals whose competency is raised at the first hearing because those individuals "aren't competent to assist counsel" with bail arguments. Pet. for Review at 25. With all due respect, this argument is ridiculous.

First, competency being raised does not mean a defendant is incompetent, and if the defendant claims to be competent the presumption is that they are. See Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b) (establishing a higher burden on the State to disprove a defendant's claim of competence).

Second, whether or not a defendant is competent to stand trial often has little bearing on their ability to assist counsel with a bond hearing. For a bond hearing, a defendant needs to minimally communicate to counsel: whether they have any money to post, any ties the community, whether they to transportation to and from court, and preferably a way for counsel to contact them upon release.

and most poignantly, the State's argument turns defendants' interests on their head. It is true that defendants who "lack[] the capacity to understand the nature and object of the proceedings against him, to consult with counsel, and to assist in preparing his defense may not be subjected to a trial." Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975); Wis. Stat. § 971.13(1). This concept is based in a defendant's due

However, nothing about that right diminishes a defendant's right to liberty and to be free from unnecessary imprisonment. Wis. Const. art. I, § 1. In fact, the liberty interest is the immediate concern. Nothing about being released would cause a defendant to be tried while incompetent, it would just force DHS to attempt an outpatient examination. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(b).

That the State believes someone should remain in jail simply because their competency has been raised is an untenable outcome. It in no way justifies this outcome with a reasonable basis for blanket jailing of mentally ill individuals who are diverted into the criminal legal system largely because they were going through a mental health crisis. ¹⁹

The State's argument that the Legislature requires those individuals to be held in jail because their competency is in question is repugnant on its face and contrary to the Legislature's stated policy of treating individuals in the "least restrictive treatment alternative appropriate to their needs, and movement through all treatment components to assure continuity of care" Wis. Stat. § 51.001(1).

¹⁹ It is safe to assume that cases where competency is raised before bond is set are those where the individual's alleged criminal behavior is related to their mental illness or cognitive impairment.

Filed 11-25-2024

The court of appeals' correctly interpreted the plain language of the relevant statutes, and the State's arguments are almost nonsensical. There is no issue this Court needs to review.

V. The State's failure to adequately treat Jared to competency demonstrates that it did not have an important interest in his prosecution.

The State's failure to treat Jared in a way that was likely to restore him to competency for five months demonstrates it did not deem his prosecution important. "Due process requires that 'the nature and duration of commitment bear some reasonable relation to the purpose for which the individual is committed." J.D.B., No. 2023AP715-CR, ¶48 (quoting Jackson v. Indiana, 406 U.S. 715, 738 (1972)); Pet.-App. at 12.

Jared languished in $_{
m the}$ jail receiving inadequate treatment for roughly five months before being transported to Mendota. Supra at 15. Most of that time was after he was committed. Pet.-App. at 24.

The first competency report suggested that would "attain competency Jared within permissible time frame if he is provided with inpatient psychiatric treatment." R.5:6. Even then, examiner was "by no means 100% that such a goal will be accomplished." R.5:6. The circuit court even ordered that Jared be "transported and admitted to a mental health institution designated by the Department of Health Services FORTHWITH." R.10 (stylization in original).

The jail specialist stated Jared was "non-adherent with psychotropic medication" and "indicated a notable decline in his ability to engage and respond relevantly." R.12:2.

Despite all of this, the State waited to transport Jared. The petition for review claims the delay "is not attributable to the prosecution." Pet. for Review at 26. At the end of the day: the State is the State is the State. Jared was committed to the custody of the Department of Health Services. Wis. § 971.14(5)(a)1. DHS is an arm of the State. Nothing prevented the State from providing Jared the appropriate care, and as the court of appeals correctly recognized—the State had a constitutional obligation to do exactly that. See J.D.B., No. 2023AP715-CR, ¶¶47-52.

It does not matter the reason for the State's failure. The record reflects that it was aware inpatient treatment was necessary and the circuit court ordered Jared transported immediately. The State did not meaningfully try restoring Jared to competency from mid-October until the end of January. The State cannot reasonably expect this Court to accept review of a finding that this demonstrated his prosecution was unimportant to them.

Filed 11-25-2024

VI. The court of appeals correctly applied the case law related to what is required of an individual treatment plan.

The State makes a largely conclusory implication that the court of appeals required too much of it in demonstrating that the proposed involuntary treatment plan complied with Sell. Jared has already discussed why this case is different from Crosby, and how the differences in Crosby's and Jared's treatment histories justify opposite outcomes. Supra at 11n.4.

Notably, the State does not address the merits of the court of appeals' decision. In fact, the State ignores the specific aspects of the treatment plan that concerned the court of appeals. The court of appeals noted that the record demonstrated Jared was "diagnosed with diabetes and was prescribed medication to prevent seizures resultant from his head injury." J.D.B., No. 2023AP715-CR, ¶60; Pet.-App. at 28. Despite this, in his report where it says "The subject is diagnosed with the following physical health conditions," Dr. Illichman wrote "None." Id.; Pet.-App. at 28. The court of appeals identified that "the labels for nearly all of the proposed medications call for special precautions for individuals with diabetes or who are at a heightened risk of seizure." *Id.*; Pet.-App. at 28.

The State the involuntary ignores that medication plan both sufficiently was not individualized and possibly medically inappropriate

Filed 11-25-2024

on the record before the circuit court. The State instead suggests that this Court needs to step in and decide if its doctors need to explain something as "granular" as whether medications might cause hyperglycemia (including the possibility of coma or death) in a diabetic patient. ²⁰ Pet. for Review at 29-30.

Finally, no one has suggested that circuit courts "rewrite individualized treatment plans." Pet. for Review at 30. It is the State's burden to prove that an entire treatment plan is appropriate. State v. Green, 2021 WI App 18, ¶16, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583. If a plan is not appropriate, the request for forcible medication should be denied. Nothing prevents the State from coming back to court and requesting involuntary medication with a sufficiently individualized and medically appropriate plan.

²⁰ See, e.g. ABILIFY (aripiprazole) Label, Food and Drug Administration.

https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2016/021 436s041,021713s032,021729s024,021866s026lbl.pdf at 14-15 (last accessed Nov. 21, 2024).

CONCLUSION

The ofappeals' court opinion was comprehensive guide to circuit courts on how to apply Sell. However, because it did nothing more than apply existing law to facts, it is not novel and presents no issues meeting the criteria for review. This Court should deny the petition for review.